## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

The People of the State of California,

Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

Rodrigo Caballero

Rodrigo Caballero, Defendant and Appellant

Case No. B 217709

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 1 2 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

In re Rodrigo Caballero, on Habeas Corpus

Case No. B 221833

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 4

Appeal from Superior Court, Los Angeles County, Hon. Hayden Zacky, Judge (LASC Case No. MA043902)

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David E. Durchfort SBN 110543
Kosnett & Durchfort
11355 W. Olympic Blvd. Suite 300
Los Angeles, CA 90064
310 444-8898
310 444-8878 (fax)

#### Question

Does a sentence of 110 years to life for a juvenile convicted of committing non-homicide offenses constitute cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment on the ground it is the functional equivalent of a life sentence without the possibility of parole? (See *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. \_\_\_,130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825.)

#### Answer

Yes. Petitioner's sentence of 110 years to life is equivalent to life without possibility of parole in all but name. Both hold no possibility of release. Petitioner did not commit murder, but received a sentence making him ineligible for parole unless he lives to age 122. He will therefore become parole-eligible only after death. This is the functional equivalent of life with no possibility of parole.

Graham held when a minor is sentenced to life for a non-homicide offense, he must be given a realistic opportunity for release before his sentence ends. (Graham v. Florida (2010) 560 U.S. \_\_ [130 S.Ct. 2011, 2034]; hereinafter "Graham"). But an abstract possibility Petitioner might qualify for parole if he survives to 122 is meaningless. To deny relief because of sentencing semantics, as the Court of Appeal suggests, is to elevate form over substance in the

cruelest manner. It renders hollow *Graham's* promise of an opportunity for redemption.

Petitioner will die in prison unless given a genuine prospect to someday prove himself worthy of parole. The judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed because it is unconstitutional to condemn a teenager who did not kill to a lifetime of confinement with no chance of release.

#### **Facts**

In June 2007, after an exchange of gang slogans, shots were fired at three Palmdale teenagers; one suffered a non-fatal wound. Within 48 hours, Petitioner Rodrigo Caballero, 16 years old, was arraigned in juvenile court on three counts of attempted murder with gang and firearm enhancements. (*People v. Caballero* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1248, 1250-51, review granted April 13, 2011 (S190647); *hereinafter "Caballero"*).

Although Rodrigo was diagnosed with schizophrenia and was found incompetent to stand trial in juvenile court for one year, his case was ultimately transferred to superior court for trial as an adult. After eyewitnesses refused to identify him in court, Petitioner waived his right to remain silent, took the stand, and confessed to the shooting. Verdicts were returned in about 30 minutes. He was immediately sentenced to three consecutive terms totaling 110 years to life.

#### **Petitioner's Mental Disease**

Rodrigo "began experiencing auditory hallucinations soon after his arrest." (Augmented Record; hereinafter "Aug.", 2). Petitioner was diagnosed "with a severely disabling form of Schizophrenia" and paranoia. (Juvenile Record, hereinafter "JR", 16). He was "convinced that each of his attorneys was conspiring to keep him confined." (Ibid.) Symptoms included outbursts resulting in the deployment of physical restraints in court (JR 19, 55); threatening suicide (JR 55); and masturbating in front of others. (JR 55). Rodrigo trivialized the nature of the charges. (JR 59). He believed a misdemeanor was more serious than a felony (JR 56) and "his thoughts could be heard by others, a symptom known as thought broadcasting that is commonly observed in individuals with Schizophrenia." (Aug. 2-3.) He was deemed incompetent (JR 59), unable to cooperate with counsel in a rational manner (JR 16), and "totally and utterly unable to [defend himself]." (JR 16).

Rodrigo was involuntarily committed in November 2007 and started receiving the antipsychotic Risperdal in 2008. (Aug. 2, 5.) By June 2008, one year before trial, the juvenile court found that Rodrigo had regained competence. (Aug. 1, 5; Caballero, *supra*, slip opn. at p. 4). Although his mental disease was in remission at the time of this finding, a forensic psychiatrist warned it was "imperative that he continue to take his prescribed antipsychotic medication, both to insure continued competence and to prevent him from becoming

dangerous or gravely disabled due to a recurrence of psychosis."
(Aug. 3).

Trial commenced in superior court one year later. None of the percipient witnesses identified Petitioner as the assailant in court. (Reporters Transcript; *hereinafter* "RT" 918, 929, 946, 972, 1206.)

#### Petitioner's Waiver

The trial judge advised Petitioner of his right to remain silent or testify and asked, "Which one would you like to do?"

THE DEFENDANT: A

All of them.

THE COURT:

Pardon me?

THE COURT:

THE DEFENDANT: All of them.

THE COURT:

What? You can't do all of them.

Which one do you want to do?

THE DEFENDANT:

Can you repeat what you said?

(RT 1220-21).

In the consolidated petition for writ of habeas corpus, Petitioner has alleged Risperdal treatment was discontinued in adult lockup 7 months before trial. This caused him to be tried while incompetent resulting in structural error. In addition, it was error not to interpose a defense of mental disease or defect. There was a reasonable chance his mental disease was present at the time the crime was committed and could have resulted in a different verdict. (See People v. Caballero and Consolidated Case, time for granting rev. extended to May 24, 2011, S190810.)

#### **Petitioner's Testimony**

Petitioner took the stand and confessed: "I was straight trying to kill somebody." (RT 1227). "They were my enemies. I am a gang banger, you know. I am supposed to know who is my enemies and who is not." (RT 1229). I did it "because they were my enemies . . . because they were from a different neighborhood than I was." (RT 1226-27). "I just seen them, shot at them, and that's about it. Went home. And then cops came the next day and arrested me." (RT 1228). "My intent wasn't to kill them. I was just shooting at them [because] they were my enemies." (RT 1230).

Rodrigo testified he never saw or had met the shooting victims. (RT 1231). He was unable to remember anything before the shooting, including the car ride. *Ibid.* And he couldn't remember that a gang member and shooting victim had testified that very morning. (RT 1220, 1228). Memory lapses were one of the manifestations of Rodrigo's mental disease.<sup>2</sup> For example, he remembered being arrested a day after the shooting (RT 1228), but not the police interview (RT 1226).

The prosecutor waived cross examination. In closing, the district attorney conceded although identification may have been an issue before Petitioner testified, it wasn't an issue any more. (RT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the time of his first forensic examination when he was 16, Rodrigo couldn't remember where he went to elementary school or where he attended the ninth grade of high school. (JR 18).

1262). Rodrigo, claimed the prosecutor, had begged the jury to convict him. (RT 1262.)

#### Sentencing

Guilt verdicts were returned in about 30 minutes on three counts of attempted murder, and true findings on each enhancement including special findings of willfulness, deliberateness and premeditation on each count (Penal Code §§664, 187(a)); personal discharge of a firearm causing great bodily injury on count one (§12022.53(d)); use and discharge of a firearm on each count (§§12022.53 (b) and (c)); and promotion of a criminal street gang on each count (§186.22 (b) (1) (c)). (Clerk's Transcript; hereinafter "CT" 86). Time was waived and three consecutive life terms totaling 110 years-to-life were immediately imposed upon Rodrigo.

#### Argument

# I. Petitioner's Sentence is the Functional Equivalent Of Life with No Possibility of Parole Because Both Carry No Possibility of Release

Petitioner will become parole-eligible only after death. This is the functional equivalent of life with no possibility of parole. (See People v. Ayon (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 385, 396 [sentence of 240] years to life is the functional equivalent of life without possibility of parole]; Andrade v. Attorney General of the State of California (9th Cir. 2001) 270 F.3d 743, 759 [sentence of 50 years to life for 37-yearold was the functional equivalent of life without possibility of parole] ["It is thus more likely than not that Andrade will spend the remainder of his life in prison without ever becoming eligible for parole."]; People v. Mendez (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 47, 63 [16-year-old's sentence of 84 to life was materially indistinguishable from sentence of life without possibility of parole because parole eligibility at age 88 exceeds life expectancy], hereinafter "Mendez"; accord People v. Nunez (2011) \_\_\_\_ Cal.App.4th \_\_\_\_ (G042873) (May 10, 2011) (Slip opn. at p. 3) [a sentence for a term of years exceeding the life expectancy of a juvenile, but without the "life without possibility of parole label," does not pass constitutional muster based on a theoretical, but illusory parole date minor's sentence of 175 to life for nonhomicide offenses far exceeds constitutional range] hereinafter

"Nunez"; see also Summer v. Shuman (1967) 483 U.S. 66, 83 [finding that "there is no basis for distinguishing for purposes of deterrence between an inmate serving a life sentence without possibility of parole and a person serving several sentences of a number of years, the total of which exceeds his normal life expectancy."].).

Rodrigo was born in 1990, committed the offenses at age 16,<sup>3</sup> was sentenced at 18, and will become parole-eligible 101 years from now, in 2112.<sup>4</sup> Like the life term at issue in *Graham*, Petitioner's sentence affords no possibility of release unless granted clemency.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner's age at the time of the offense was identical to that of the defendant in *Mendez*, *supra*, a decision decided by the same Court of Appeal as the instant case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner's minimum eligible parole date is June 5, 2112 when he turns 122. *Cf.* Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation *Calculation Worksheet Indeterminate*, Attorney General's Supplemental Letter Brief (Nov. 2, 2010). Penal Code §3046(b) requires that Petitioner serve a minimum of 110 years before becoming parole-eligible.

Life expectancy for long-term incarcerated youth is substantially lower than their free peers' because they are subjected to higher incidences of abuse, violence, and serve proportionately greater percentages of their lives behind bars during formative development. For example, children doing time in adult prisons are five times more likely to be raped. (De la Vega & Leighton, Sentencing Our Children to Die in Prison: Global Law & Practice, 42 U.S.F.L. REV. 983, 984 at n. 5 (2008).) Moreover, their quality of health care is severely compromised. Imprisoned youth are up to twenty times more likely to have serious mental disorders than comparable teens. (Seena Fazel, et al., Mental Disorders Among Adolescents in Juvenile Detention and Correctional Facilities: A Systematic Review and Metaregression Analysis of 25 Surveys, 47 J. Am. ACAD. CHILD ADOLESCENT PSYCH. 1010, 1016 (2008).) Confinement in adult lockup aggravates the condition of minors with disabilities. They are at greater risk of

He is therefore serving a sentence equivalent to life without parole for non-homicide offenses.

The Attorney General concedes as much. (Supplemental Letter Brief 3 (Nov. 2, 2010) ["Thus, the sentence here constitutes 'de facto LWOP.'"]).

The most recent pronouncement from the Court of Appeal confirms that a sentence of a term of years that precludes parole for a nonhomicide juvenile offender is cruel and unusual under any interpretation of *Graham*: "A term of years effectively denying any possibility of parole is no less severe than an LWOP term. Removing the 'LWOP' designation does not confer any greater penological justification. Nor does tinkering with the label somehow increase a juvenile's culpability. Finding a determinate sentence exceeding a juvenile's life expectancy constitutional because it is not labeled an LWOP sentence is Orwellian. Simply put, a distinction based on changing a label, as the trial court did, is arbitrary and baseless." *Nunez, supra*, slip opn. at p. 13.

Rodrigo Caballero's 110 year to life sentence denies him any possibility of parole during a lifetime of incarceration. Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

depression and increased suicide. (Hayes, U.S. Dept. of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, *Juvenile Suicide in Confinement: A National Survey* 1-2 (2009).) The constellation of symptoms Petitioner displayed shortly after arrest and his detention in adult jail, including auditory hallucinations, attempted suicide, and paranoia proves the claim.

### II. Petitioner's Sentence is Unconstitutional Because He is Ineligible for Release During a Lifetime of Confinement

Graham "applies to an entire class of offenders who have committed a range of crimes." (Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at pp. 2022-23.) Petitioner belongs to this protected class because he is (1) a minor; (2) convicted of non-homicide offenses; and (3) received a life sentence with no realistic possibility of release before the end of his term. Terrance Graham's sentence was reversed not because he was sentenced to "life without possibility of parole", but because Florida life sentences hold no possibility of release. The Eighth Amendment prohibits sentencing minors like Rodrigo Caballero who are convicted of non-homicide offenses to life, life without possibility of parole, or any extreme sentence if release is, in practice, foreclosed.

#### A. Graham Applies to a Term of Years Sentence

Graham forbids sentencing minors to life terms for non-homicide offenses that preclude any possibility of release. The broad sweep of the decision includes Petitioner's 110-year-to-life term:

The present case involves an issue the Court has not considered previously: a categorical challenge to a term-of-years sentence.

(Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2022.)

Powerful language at the end of the majority's opinion reinforces the conclusion that *all* life terms are implicated:

A State need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term.

(*Graham, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2034.)

Hence, the conclusion of the Court of Appeal that "no language in *Graham* suggests that the case applies to [Petitioner's term of years (110) to life] sentence" is untrue. (*Caballero*, *supra*, slip opn. at p. 18). In fact, the same Court of Appeal now concedes *Graham* can be read to extend relief to a term of years sentence, but declines to do so. (*People v. Ramirez* (2011) \_\_\_\_\_ Cal.App.4th \_\_\_\_ (B220528) (March 16, 2011) (Slip opn. at 13) [minor's sentence of 120 to life for non-homicide offenses affirmed]).

#### B. The Court of Appeal Misinterpreted Graham

The Court of Appeal misses the mark because its literal attempt to distinguish *Graham* with a fixation on semantics is not persuasive. The court's cramped reading of *Graham's* use of the term "life without parole" is misplaced. (*Caballero, supra,* slip opn. at p. 18, 20). *Graham's* holding does not mean only defendants with a prison sentence literally worded as "life without parole" are entitled to relief.

(Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2022). Rather, Terrance Graham's life without parole sentence—and those of other juveniles who committed non-homicides and received life without parole sentences—was declared unconstitutional because it carried no possibility of parole—not because they received sentences phrased with the exact words "life with no possibility of parole." (See Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2029 ["Even if the State's judgment that Graham was incorrigible were later corroborated by prison misbehavior failure to mature, or the sentence was still disproportionate because that judgment was made at the outset. A life without parole sentence improperly denies the juvenile offender a chance to demonstrate growth and maturity."] [emphasis added]; accord People v. Nunez, supra, slip opn. at pp. 2-3 ["Graham invalidated a de facto sentence of life without the possibility of parole as a sentencing option for juveniles who do not kill. ([Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct.] at p. 2030.) As a practical matter, the consecutive life sentences the trial court imposed here denied Nuñez any possibility of receiving a parole hearing. We perceive no sound basis to distinguish Graham's reasoning where a term of years beyond the juvenile's life expectancy is tantamount to an LWOP term."].).

Graham was sentenced to life imprisonment for armed burglary plus 15 years for attempted armed robbery. (*Graham, supra,* 130 S.Ct. at p. 2020). "Because Florida has abolished its parole system...a life sentence gives a defendant *no possibility of release* unless he is granted executive clemency." (*Ibid.* [italics added]). In

Florida, therefore, any life sentence necessarily results in life imprisonment with no possibility of parole. Graham's life sentence for non-homicide offenses violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment because it carried no possibility of release. (*Graham, supra*, 130 S.Ct. *at* p. 2034).

The fundamental difference between a life sentence that carries no possibility of release and one that does is that the goal of rehabilitation is rejected in the former. (Solem v. Helm (1983) 463 U.S. 277, 283-84.) "Life without parole is an especially harsh punishment for a juvenile. Under this sentence a juvenile offender will on average serve more years and a greater percentage of his life in prison than an adult offender. A 16-year-old and a 75-year-old each sentenced to life without parole receive the same punishment in name only. This reality cannot be ignored." (Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2028.)

Rodrigo Caballero's sentence of 110 years to life is indistinguishable from Terrance Graham's because it too affords no possibility of parole. Excessive terms for teens like Petitioner (110 to life), Graham (life), Mendez (84 to life), Nunez (175 to life) and Ramirez (120 to life), provide no hope of release. Yet, these individuals are not beyond redemption:

By denying the defendant the right to reenter the community, the State makes an irrevocable judgment about that person's value and place in society. This judgment is not appropriate in light of a juvenile

nonhomicide offender's capacity for change and limited moral culpability.

(Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2030.)

The judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed because Rodrigo Caballero is serving a life term for non-homicide offenses with no possibility of release—the functional equivalent of life without possibility of parole.

# III. Petitioner's Confinement is Identical to Those Sentenced to Life without Parole

It is also relevant that the terms and conditions of Petitioner's incarceration are virtually identical to others' serving life with no possibility of parole. No substantive differences exist. Punishment is akin to slow death, rehabilitation is abandoned and the judgment is irreversible. (See Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2030 ["For juvenile offenders, who are most in need of and receptive to rehabilitation, the absence of rehabilitative opportunities or treatment makes the disproportionality of the sentence all the more evident."] [internal citations omitted].).

Life inmates are denied virtually all prison privileges regardless of parole eligibility. Most life prisoners like Petitioner are disqualified from obtaining good time/work time credits just as their

life-with-no-parole counterparts. (15 Cal. Code of Reg. §3042.)<sup>6</sup> At reception, both sets of inmates are placed in restricted secure housing units. (*Id.* at §3375.2.) Each is classified close custody and supervision during the first 15 years' confinement and has limited opportunities for reduction thereafter. (*Id.* at §3377.2.) Each is denied prison jobs and meager institutional programming because both life terms carry heavy classification scores and the availability of program resources at high-level security facilities is scarce. (*Id.* at §\$3375.1, 3377.2.) Like others sentenced to life without possibility of parole, Petitioner's 110-year sentence brands him a "High Notoriety" inmate.<sup>7</sup>

Thus, Rodrigo's lifetime of harsh punishment is functionally equivalent to a prisoner's serving life with no possibility of parole. Each of the characteristics *Graham* identified in describing a "life without parole" sentence applies to Petitioner:

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