In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V

RODRIGO CABALLERO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S190647

SUPREME COURT

AUG 1 1 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Glerk

Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B217709 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. MA043902 The Honorable Hayden Zacky, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
PAMELA C. HAMANAKA
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JAIME L. FUSTER
Deputy Attorney General
LAWRENCE M. DANIELS
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

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

Although the Supreme Court regards the nation's legislation as the "clearest and most reliable objective evidence of contemporary values" (Atkins, supra, 536 U.S. at p. 312, internal quotation marks omitted), it has also examined actual sentencing practice to determine if there is any national consensus (Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2023). With respect to this, appellant points to a study indicating that of 6,807 juveniles in the nation serving life in prison (non-LWOP) sentences as of 2009, 2,623 were incarcerated in California. (POB 20-22, citing The Sentencing Project, No Exit: The Expanding Use of Life Sentences in America (July 2009), located at www.sentencingproject.org.) He argues that this "table shows how

disproportionate California's sentencing practice has become." (POB 20.) But nothing in this table indicates how many of these sentences were for homicide, attempted homicide, or nonhomicide offenses. Nor does the table report how many of these life sentences carried a minimum parole date that exceeded the juvenile's life expectancy. The study also does not indicate whether the proportion of juvenile life sentences to adult life sentences in California is higher than in other jurisdictions, or whether a higher number of crimes committed by juveniles in California, particularly among gang members, also correlates to the amount of juveniles in California serving life sentences. In short, the cited statistics fail to show an actual sentencing practice that demonstrates a national consensus against the type of sentence in this case. ¹³

That there is no national consensus against the sentencing practice in this case, the Supreme Court has instructed,

while entitled to great weight, is not itself determinative of whether a punishment is cruel and unusual. In accordance with the constitutional design, the task of interpreting the Eighth Amendment remains our responsibility. The judicial exercise of independent judgment requires consideration of the culpability of the offenders at issue in light of their crimes and characteristics, along with the severity of the punishment in question. In this inquiry the Court also considers whether the challenged sentencing practice serves legitimate penological goals.

Another study appellant refers to, reporting 182 juvenile homicide arrests in California in 2009, is insufficient to show how many juveniles are currently serving life sentences for homicide convictions in California. (See POB 22, citing Cal. Dept. of Justice, *Juvenile Justice in California*, Table 4, Juvenile Felony Arrests, 2009 (July 2010).) In any event, even assuming, as appellant appears to suggest, that this number is typical, the past 15 years would amount to 2,730 juveniles arrested for homicide crimes. In this scenario, a high proportion of the 2,623 juvenile life sentences in California likely would have resulted from homicide convictions.

(Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2026, internal citations omitted.)

The Court in *Graham* observed that "developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds." (*Graham*, *supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2026.) The Court also recognized that "defendants who do not kill, intend to kill, or foresee that life will be taken are categorically less deserving than are murderers." (*Id.* at p. 2027.) Considering the diminished culpability of juvenile offenders in general and the diminished culpability of a defendant who commits a nonhomicide crime, the Supreme Court reasoned that "when compared to an adult murderer, a juvenile offender who did not kill or intend to kill has a twice diminished moral culpability." (*Ibid.*)

Here, appellant's three premeditated attempted murders with gang, firearm, and great bodily injury enhancements demonstrate a categorically greater culpability than Graham's armed burglary. Under *Graham*, because appellant intended to kill in each offense, he was not "categorically less deserving" of severe punishment and did not have "a twice diminished moral culpability" than murderers. Also, a juvenile like appellant who intends to kill, and tries to kill, three different persons, especially in a premeditated fashion, is one whose culpability is at least treble.

Appellant's crimes were even more serious because, as the jury found, they were committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang with the specific intent to promote criminal conduct by gang members. (See Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)(1).) This Court recently noted that the Legislature has determined that gang "activities, both individually and collectively, present a clear and present danger to public order and safety" (*People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 55, quoting Pen. Code, § 186.21; see also *id.* at pp. 68-69 (con. opn. of Werdegar, J.) ["[t]he proliferation of criminal street gangs and gang-related crimes is deeply troubling, impacting our neighborhoods, our citizenry and our families, and

threatening the individual personal security of us all. In the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (the STEP Act), the Legislature has attempted to address this disturbing state of affairs by imposing enhanced punishment"].)

In addition, appellant's personal discharge of a firearm in commission of the crimes under Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivision (c), also elevated their seriousness and increased his culpability. As this Court has determined: "The legislative intent behind section 12022.53 is clear: "The Legislature finds and declares that substantially longer prison sentences must be imposed on felons who use firearms in the commission of their crimes, in order to protect our citizens and to deter violent crime."" (People v. Palacios (2007) 41 Cal.4th 720, 725, quoting People v. Garcia (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1166, 1172, quoting Stats. 1997, ch. 503, § 1.) And this Court has recognized that section 12022.53, subdivision (d), the great bodily injury or death provision, serves the legislative goal "to deter crimes in which a firearm is used and to incapacitate those who use firearms in crimes." (People v. Oates (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1048, 1057, emphasis in original, quoting Sen. Com. on Public Safety, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 4 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess. as amended Apr. 28, 1997).) Appellant's discharge of a firearm and infliction of great bodily injury during his crimes heightened his culpability.

As to the severity of the punishment in question, each of appellant's three sentences (40 to life, 35 to life, and 35 to life), in contrast to the life without parole sentence in *Graham*, allowed for the possibility of parole within appellant's lifetime. Although each sentence is lengthy, it does not pose the concern presented in *Graham* of determining at the outset that the juvenile cannot be reformed. It was only by appellant's repeated commission of these offenses on different victims that he subjected himself

to a total penalty that amounted to a sentence with a minimum parole eligibility that should exceed his life.

Further, only where "none of the goals of penal sanctions that have been recognized as legitimate—retribution, deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation, [citation]—provides an adequate justification" should the sentence at issue be considered grossly disproportionate. (*Graham, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2028.) In this inquiry, "[c]riminal punishment can have different goals, and choosing among them is within a legislature's discretion." (*Ibid.*) In light of the serious nature of the crimes and enhancements, appellant's sentences, considered either individually or cumulatively, serve the legitimate goals of retribution, deterrence, and incapacitation. And, individually, each of his sentences furthers the goal of rehabilitation. Since at least one, and in fact all four, of the goals of punishment are served in this case, his sentence should not be considered grossly disproportionate to his crimes.

First, retribution is "an expression of society's moral outrage at particularly offensive conduct" (*Thompson*, *supra*, 487 U.S. at 836, internal quotation marks omitted), and its "rationale is that a criminal sentence must be directly related to the personal culpability of the criminal offender," rendering it a "legitimate reason to punish" (*Graham*, *supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2028, internal quotation marks omitted). Although juveniles generally are considered less culpable than adults for criminal offenses and therefore less deserving of the strictest punishments, the goal of retribution is better served with respect to a lengthy term-of-years sentence where a juvenile commits premeditated attempted murders against three victims with a firearm, to benefit his gang, causing great bodily injury to one of the victims, than in *Graham*, where a juvenile received life without parole for a

single, nonhomicide offense, armed burglary. ¹⁴ Under these circumstances, appellant's punishment did reflect the "community's moral outrage" at these crimes. (See *Graham*, *supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2028.)

Second, as to deterrence, the Supreme Court has explained that "the punishment of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole is itself a severe sanction, in particular for a young person" and thus acts as a sufficient deterrent for juveniles that commit homicide. (*Roper*, *supra*, 543 U.S. at p. 572.) Similarly, increasing a sentence to lengthen the minimum parole eligibility date upon each premeditated attempted murder conviction serves to deter a juvenile from trying to kill more people. Therefore, even accounting for a juvenile's "diminished moral responsibility" generally, the sentences for appellant's additional crimes effectively promote deterrence both as to appellant as well as other, potential offenders. In this way, appellant's sentences have a greater deterrent effect then the LWOP sentence for the single, nonhomicide offense in *Graham*. 15

A fitting comparison of culpability is therefore not, as appellant contends, merely between attempted murder and murder (POB 16-17), but rather between three aggravated attempted murders and one murder. Respondent also disagrees with appellant's characterization of one of the victims, Bautista, as being "relatively unscathed" from the shooting. (POB 17.) The jury found Bautista had suffered great bodily injury based upon the uncontested evidence that appellant shot him in the back and upper shoulder, causing him to fall to the ground and to bleed from his upper back, nose, and mouth, while having breathing difficulty. Bautista then stayed in the hospital for over a day. Furthermore, appellant's apparent inference that Bautista's recanting at trial showed reasonable doubt as to his guilt (POB 17) flies in the face of appellant's admission of guilt at trial and the uncontradicted testimony from other gang members that "snitches" risk being killed even by their own gang.

Appellant quotes Sumner v. Shuman (1967) 483 U.S. 66, 83 [107 S.Ct. 2716, 97 L.Ed.2d 56] for the proposition that "there is no basis for distinguishing, for purposes of deterrence, between an inmate serving a life sentence without possibility of parole and a person serving several (continued...)

Third, the Supreme Court has described incapacitation as "an important goal" of punishment. Finding it justified, however, requires a determination at the outset that the juvenile is "incorrigible," which is "difficult" to do. (*Graham*, *supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2029.) But just as with murder, a premeditated attempted murder, particularly when committed multiple times with various gang, firearm, and great bodily injury enhancements, ought to permit the sentencing discretion to impose punishment consecutively on the ground that this is a juvenile capable of committing crimes that show "irreparable corruption." (*Roper*, *supra*, 543 U.S. at p. 573.) The trial court's sentence was consistent with this determination, especially considering that while one of appellant's gang rivals was testifying, appellant mouthed, "You're dead," in his direction. (3RT 1235.)

Fourth, regarding rehabilitation, appellant, unlike Graham, was not denied the possibility of regaining his freedom upon showing reformation and penitence for a single offense. At that point, appellant would have had the potential for parole. It was not until he committed additional attempted murders that this opportunity was effectively denied. In this way, as to his sentence for each crime, which is the only relevant inquiry for Eighth Amendment purposes, appellant had a meaningful chance to obtain release in his lifetime. Accordingly, rehabilitation was a fourth goal served by

^{(...}continued)

sentences of a number of years, the total of which exceeds his normal life expectancy." (POB 8, 27.) The Supreme Court in *Sumner*, however, was evaluating the deterrent value of a sentence (capital punishment) for a crime committed while the inmate already is serving his life without parole or lengthy-term-of-years sentence. (*Sumner*, *supra*, 483 U.S. at pp. 83-84.) By contrast, this case requires an evaluation of whether the goal of deterrence is served before the person commits the additional crimes for which he receives a sentence exceeding his life expectancy.

each punishment in this case. Moreover, given the seriousness of appellant's offenses, rehabilitation was adequately justified by his total sentence in that he retained "his potential to attain a mature understanding of his own humanity" even in prison. (*Roper*, *supra*, 543 U.S. at p. 573.)

Appellant also contends that there is an international consensus against life sentences for juveniles, pointing to the Graham Court's conclusion that other nations forbid life without parole sentences for juveniles for nonhomicide offenses and to articles asserting that European nations do not impose lengthy maximum sentences for juveniles even for serious crimes. (POB 22-25.) But whether a juvenile convicted of appellant's offenses would not receive a life sentence in some other parts of the world is not, by itself, material under Supreme Court jurisprudence. International law can only validate the reasoning of an independent conclusion that the sentencing practice is cruel and unusual; international law on its own cannot warrant a categorical prohibition of a sentencing practice. (Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2034 ["[t]he Court has treated the laws and practices of other nations and international agreements as relevant to the Eighth Amendment not because those norms are binding or controlling but because the judgment of the world's nations that a particular sentencing practice is inconsistent with basic principles of decency demonstrates that the Court's rationale has respected reasoning to support it"].) As there is no national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue in this case, and as the punishment is not indefensibly severe in light of the offender's high culpability, appellant's reliance on international law is unavailing. (See People v. Mungia (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1101, 1143 ["California's status as being in the minority of jurisdictions worldwide that impose capital punishment, especially in contrast with the nations of Western Europe, does not violate the Eighth Amendment"].)

Lastly, appellant contends that under *Graham*, the trial court violated the Eighth Amendment by sentencing him without adequately considering his personal circumstances. (POB 29-31.)¹⁶ Initially, appellant has forfeited this claim by failing to object on this ground at sentencing. (3RT 1285-1289; see *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 354 ["claims deemed waived on appeal involve sentences which, though otherwise permitted by law, were imposed in a procedurally or factually flawed manner"].)

Were appellant's contention cognizable, however, it would be meritless. Nothing in *Graham* overruled *Harmelin*, *supra*, 501 U.S. 957, where the Supreme Court squarely rejected a claim that an LWOP sentence was unconstitutional because the trial court did not consider any mitigating factors. The Court in *Harmelin* held that the Eighth Amendment does not require consideration of mitigating factors in noncapital cases. ¹⁷ (*Id.* at p. 995; see *Smith v. State* (Alaska App., July 1, 2011) ____ P.3d ___ [2011 WL 2650000, *9] ["the holdings and the reasoning of *Simmons* and *Graham* do not support an across-the-board mitigation of sentences for juvenile offenders who are prosecuted within the adult justice system"]; *Welch v. State* (Tex.App. 2011) 335 S.W.3d 376, 381 ["discussion of a constitutional rule regarding mitigating evidence is conspicuously absent from the decision" in *Graham*]; *Miller v. State* (Ala.Crim.App., Aug. 27, 2010) ____ So.3d ___ [2010 WL 3377692, *9] [because the juvenile "did not receive a sentence of death," his LWOP sentence is not subject to "the

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